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Opinion and Order

BY THE COMMISSION:

		Before the Commission for consideration and disposition is a Settlement Agreement (Settlement or Settlement Agreement) originally filed on May 11, 2009, by Equitable Gas Company, LLC, a subsidiary of EQT Corporation (Equitable or the Company) and the Commission’s Law Bureau Prosecutory Staff (Prosecutory Staff) collectively, “the Parties,” with respect to an Informal Investigation conducted by the Prosecutory Staff.   In the Settlement Agreement, Equitable does not admit to any violations of the Public Utility Code (Code) or to violations of the rules and regulations of the Commission; however, the Parties agree that in lieu of litigating the accusations set forth in the Settlement, Equitable will pay $65,000 into the Equitable Hardship Repair Fund.[footnoteRef:1]  Further, and as set forth below, Equitable has agreed: to provide acceptable and appropriate written procedures for preventive and mitigative measures to be applied to its gas transmission system; to assure that applicable safety standards are met; to update its distribution system maps; and to retrain employees and contractors as set forth in the Settlement. [1:  	The Hardship Repair Fund is used to help low income customers with house line, service line, and furnace repairs and replacements, as well as to help with installation of thermostats for the visually impaired.  The Hardship Repair Fund is a fund of last resort and is particularly helpful when the Commonwealth’s Crisis Program is closed.  Recipients of assistance must qualify as low income (at or below 150% of the federal poverty level) but need not be in Equitable’s customer assistance program. 
] 


		The Parties submit that the proposed Settlement Agreement is in the public interest and complies with the Commission’s Policy Statement at 52 Pa. Code § 69.1201 (Factors and standards for evaluating litigated and settled proceedings involving violations of the Public Utility Code and Commission regulations—statement of policy).  Settlement at 14-15; ¶¶ 44-50.  Further, the proposed Settlement is submitted as contingent on Commission approval without any waivers or other approvals to effectuate its terms. Settlement at 16; ¶ 51.  If the Commission does not approve the Settlement without modification, either party may elect to withdraw from the Settlement.  Settlement at 16; ¶ 52.

History of the Case
		
		The Settlement Agreement has been brought before the Commission by the Parties in order to resolve allegations of multiple violations of the Code of Federal Regulations and the rules and regulations of the Commission relative to natural gas pipeline safety.  The specific incidents that are the subject of the Settlement Agreement occurred on or about June 21, 2007, to August 16, 2007;  May 29, 2007, to July 20, 2007;  and February 14, 2008.  

		On June 19, 2007, Pennsylvania American Water Company (PAWC) needed to have certain water services installed that would involve a number of crossings of Equitable’s D-144 line in the vicinity of Baldwin Road in the Pittsburgh area and submitted a Pennsylvania “One Call” request.  Settlement at 4; ¶¶ 12-13.  On June 29, 2007, Equitable received another excavation ticket submitted by PAWC notifying Equitable that additional construction would occur on Baldwin Road.  Settlement at 4; 
¶ 14.  In July 2007, PAWC had the referenced service lines installed by a contractor at the locations covered by the two One Call requests.  Settlement at 4; ¶ 15.  On August 16, 2007, a Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission Gas Safety Inspector inspected Equitable’s records in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, looking for Equitable’s Damage Prevention Program.  During that inspection, the Commission’s Inspector discovered that Equitable did not have an established written procedure for preventive and mitigative measures to prevent damages to transmission pipelines operating less than 30% of Specified Minimum Yield Strength (SMYS) in class 3 and class 4 areas, as mandated by 49 CFR § 192.907(a).  He also discovered that a number of PAWC water services installations had been bored over Equitable’s D-144 transmission line:

a.	Without Equitable having a written Damage 	Prevention Program,
b.	Without “spot” holes being excavated, and 
c.	Without Equitable’s personnel on site.  

		The Commission’s Inspector informed Equitable that the water services that crossed Equitable’s D‑144 line and which had not been “spot” holed were to be excavated and inspected for damage immediately.  The Commission’s Inspector and Equitable’s personnel proceeded to the Baldwin crossing locations to observe the excavations.  Settlement at 4-5; ¶ 16.  On August 16, 2007, at one of the Baldwin crossing locations, Equitable and the Commission’s Inspector discovered, upon excavation, that one of the bored and installed water services had damaged the pipeline coating of Equitable’s D‑144 transmission line. Settlement at 5; ¶ 17.  Equitable repaired the damage on August 16, 2007, prior to filling in the excavation.  Settlement at 5; ¶ 18.  If proven, the foregoing conduct would be in violation of 49 C.F.R. § 192.907(a) and 52 Pa. Code § 59.33(a) – Safety.

		On May 29, 2007, Equitable utilized a 12‑inch diameter Style 38 Dresser Coupler to form a tie-in on a new section of plastic natural gas pipe at 123 Mahoning Road, Templeton, Pennsylvania. Settlement at 6; ¶ 21,  Equitable installed the Dresser Coupler, and the connected pipe (coupling assembly) was placed into service according to Equitable’s written tie-in procedure.  Equitable’s written tie-in procedures did not include a written procedure for blocking and anchoring coupling assemblies such as these prior to putting gas into the main.  Settlement at 7; ¶ 22.  Soon after the coupling assembly was installed, Equitable’s work crew became aware that the coupling assembly was leaking natural gas at the connection with the existing pipe.  Settlement at 7; ¶ 23.  A few minutes later, when Equitable’s crew attempted to stop the leak, the coupler came off the pipe allowing a release of natural gas to the atmosphere at a pressure of 34 psig. Settlement at 7; ¶ 24.  After the coupler detached from the pipe connection, the natural gas ignited, and the resulting natural gas fire damaged the building and property at 123 Mahoning Road.  There were no injuries from this fire.  Settlement at 7; ¶ 25.  At no time did Equitable’s crew act to take pressure off the line in an effort to reduce the hazards associated with the incident.  Settlement at 7; ¶ 26.  The on-site situation was resolved by shutting off the flow of natural gas to the line.  Settlement at 7; ¶ 27.

		Equitable investigated the cause of the incident and determined that the thrust force caused by the natural gas flow caused the coupling assembly to come apart.  Settlement at 7; ¶ 28.  The incident was reported to the Commission on May 29, 2007.  Settlement at 7; ¶ 29.

		On July 20, 2007, a Gas Safety Inspector for the Commission inspected Equitable’s records and the site relative to the May 29, 2007 natural gas release and fire at 123 Mahoning Road.  Settlement at 8; ¶ 30.  The Inspector concluded that Equitable did not have sufficient and necessary anchors and support on the installed coupling assembly as required and that the lack of anchors and support caused the coupling assembly to fail.  He further concluded that Equitable did not prevent undue strain on the coupling assembly and did not have enough supports or anchors to protect the exposed pipe joints from the maximum longitudinal forces caused by a bend or offset in the pipe. Settlement at 8; ¶ 31.  At all times relevant to this matter, Equitable failed to have an established written procedure for adequate support and anchors to resist longitudinal forces caused by a bend or offset in the pipe as mandated by Federal Pipeline Safety Regulations at 49 CFR § 192.161.  Settlement at 8; ¶ 32.  If proven, the foregoing conduct would be in violation of: 49 CFR § 192.143 General Requirements and 52 Pa. Code § 59.33 Safety; 49 CFR § 192.161 Supports and Anchors and 52 Pa. Code § 59.33 Safety; 49 CFR § 192.303 Compliance with Specifications or Standards and 52 Pa. Code § 59.33 Safety.

		On February 14, 2008, an independent contractor was installing a silt fence at the construction site for a new building located along Lighthill Street, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania (the Lighthill Site).  Settlement at 10; ¶ 34.  A request for line locating and marking was made to Equitable through the Pennsylvania One Call system.  Settlement at 10; ¶ 35.  Although the independent contractor had requested line locating and marking, Equitable failed to mark its four-inch service line located at the Lighthill Site.  Settlement at 10; ¶ 36.  While the independent contractor’s personnel were excavating at the Lighthill Site, they struck and damaged Equitable’s four-inch service line.  Settlement at 10; ¶ 37.  The damage caused an interruption in service to one customer.  Settlement at 10; ¶ 38.  Equitable was notified of the damage at 7:30 a.m.  Equitable’s personnel responded at 7:32 a.m. and arrived at the scene at 7:52 a.m.  The incident was made safe at 9:27 a.m.  Settlement at 10; ¶ 39.  Equitable’s personnel discovered that the four-inch service line had not been cut-off at the main when an existing building at the location had been razed.  Settlement at 10; ¶ 40.  If proven, the foregoing conduct would be in violation of: 49 CFR § 192.614(a) Damage Prevention Program and 52 Pa. Code § 59.33 Safety; and, 52 Pa. Code § 59.37 Maps, Plans and Records.

		If proven, each day of non-compliance with federal or state regulations relative to the foregoing events would constitute a separate violation pursuant to 66 Pa. C.S. § 3301(b) Civil Penalties, Continuing Violations.

		An Informal Investigation into these events was conducted by the Prosecutory Staff pursuant to Subsection 331(a) of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 331(a), and Section 3.113 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure, 52 Pa. Code § 3.113.  

		After the Informal Investigation, and in accordance with 52 Pa. Code § 3.113(b)(3), Prosecutory Staff and Equitable entered into discussions regarding settling this matter without the need for an on-the-record proceeding.  Those discussions resulted in a proposed Settlement.  Prosecutory Staff and Equitable jointly support the proposed Settlement.  The Parties aver that the proposed Settlement is in the public interest and request that the Commission approve the Settlement.  The terms of the Settlement are set forth below. 


Terms of the Settlement Agreement

		The proposed Settlement contains a series of material terms summarized in this Opinion and Order, but those terms do not constitute an admission, a finding of any fact, or a finding of culpability on the part of Equitable in this or any other proceeding. 

		In order to settle the Informal Investigation, Equitable has agreed to the following:

A.  Pay an amount into the Equitable Hardship Repair Fund equal to $65,000 in lieu of a civil penalty.  Equitable shall not recover or attempt to recover this amount, or any portion thereof, from its ratepayers.

B.  Provide to the Gas Safety Division an acceptable and appropriate written procedure for preventative and mitigative measures to prevent damages to transmission pipelines operating less than 30% of SMYS in class 3 and class 4 areas.

C.  Provide an acceptable and appropriate written procedure for all other preventative and mitigative measures that need to be conducted on the Equitable’s gas transmission system.

D.  Retrain all Equitable’s employees and contractors in the requirements of the new procedures for preventative and mitigative measures addressed in the Settlement.

E.  Demonstrate to the Commission’s Gas Safety staff that the requirements of paragraphs 43. b., c., and d. above have been completed before this matter is submitted to the Commission for approval.

F.  Provide to the Gas Safety Division and maintain in operations a written process to evaluate the thrust force at each tie where a coupling assembly with no pull out resistance is utilized.

G.  Provide a written procedure to the Gas Safety Division and maintain in operations for ensuring that all mains and lines are anchored for the proper thrust force for all coupling assemblies with no pull out resistance prior to pressure being introduced to the pipeline.

H.  Retrain all Equitable employees and contractors in the requirements of the new procedures for anchoring coupling assemblies consistent with the terms of the Settlement.

I.  Demonstrate to the Commission’s Gas Safety staff that the requirements of the Settlement have been completed before this matter is submitted to the Commission for approval.

J.  Provide new procedures to ensure that all company-owned gas service lines are cut-off at the main at the time when a service line will no longer be utilized to provide service. 

K.  Review comprehensively and update its distribution system maps and plans so as to ensure the accuracy of those maps and plans.

L.  Provide new procedures to ensure that all company-owned gas lines are marked whenever a request to do so is received through the Pennsylvania One Call system.

M.  Retrain all Equitable employees and contractors in the requirements of the new procedures for cut offs consistent with the terms of the Settlement.

N.  Demonstrate to the Commission’s Gas Safety staff that the requirements of the Settlement have been completed before this matter is submitted to the Commission for approval.

O.  Refrain from committing violations of the natural gas safety regulations and/or practices in the future.

Settlement at 12-14, ¶43.


Discussion

		Pursuant to our Regulations at 52 Pa. Code § 5.231, it is the Commission’s policy to promote settlements.  The Prosecutory Staff and Equitable provide a detailed analysis of the proposed Settlement in light of the Commission’s Policy Statement at 52 Pa. Code § 69.1201 (Factors and standards for evaluating litigated and settled proceedings involving violations of the Public Utility Code and Commission regulations—statement of policy).[footnoteRef:2]   However, the Commission must review proposed settlements to determine whether the terms are in the public interest.  Pa. PUC v. Philadelphia Gas Works, M-00031768 (January 7, 2004); 52 Pa. Code § 69.1201.  Before the Commission conducts this review and rules on the Settlement, we must provide other potentially affected persons with the opportunity to submit comments thereon or to take other action provided for under law.  52 Pa. Code § 3.113(b)(3).   [2:  	See Law Bureau Prosecutory Staff and Equitable Gas Company, LLC Joint Statement in Support of Settlement Agreement. 
 ] 


		In sum, the Settlement requires that Equitable pay $65,000 into the Equitable Hardship Repair Fund, provide acceptable and appropriate written procedures for preventative and mitigative measures, assure that applicable safety standards are met, update its distribution system maps and appropriately retrain employees and contractors.  In reviewing the Settlement we have applied our Policy Statement at 52 Pa. Code 
§ 69.120.  We specifically find that: the conduct at issue was of a serious nature as contemplated by 52 Pa. Code § 69.120 (c)(1); the resulting consequences of the conduct at issue were of a serious nature as contemplated by 52 Pa. Code § 69.120 (c)(2); the utility has agreed to modify internal practices and procedures to address the conduct at issue and prevent similar conduct in the future as contemplated by 52 Pa. Code § 69.120 (c)(4) and the utility cooperated with the Commission’s investigation as contemplated by 52 Pa. Code § 69.120 (c)(7); however, the civil penalty proposed in the Settlement is not appropriate as contemplated by 52 Pa. Code § 69.120 (c)(8).  The nature of the incident and the alleged violations of federal and state gas safety regulations merit a greater penalty than the one offered in the Settlement.  Ensuring that our public utilities operate safely is of the utmost importance and is a task that the Legislature has entrusted to the Commission.  In these cases, Equitable has demonstrated a lack of adherence to safety regulations which resulted in damage to property.  More importantly, the public’s safety was placed at risk on an ongoing basis.  Based on our review of the incidents and the alleged violations, the Commission would be well within its discretion to impose a substantial civil penalty.  As we understand that it is in the public interest to settle this matter so as to avoid the expense of litigation, and because of the proactive remediation measures that Equitable has agreed to implement, we will impose a payment of $130,000.

		Because the Settlement as agreed to by the Parties requires that Equitable pay $65,000 into its Hardship Repair Fund, we believe that the additional $65,000 should be paid as a civil penalty pursuant to 66 Pa. C.S. § 3301.  Neither payment shall be recoverable in base rates and shall be in addition to any support already committed to the Hardship Repair Fund.

		Further, we wish to strongly caution Equitable and our other jurisdictional utilities that we monitor safety violations carefully and track any trends in unsafe operational practices.  We intend to fully utilize the authority given to us by the Code and our regulations to deter unsafe practices.

Conclusion

Before issuing a final decision on the merits of the proposed Settlement Agreement, as modified by this Opinion and Order, and consistent with the requirement 


of 52 Pa. Code § 3.113(b)(3), we are providing an opportunity for interested parties to file comments to the proposed Settlement and Application; THEREFORE,

		IT IS ORDERED:

		1.	That this Opinion and Order together with the Settlement Agreement, as modified by this Opinion and Order, shall hereby be entered for comments by any interested party.

		2.	That in the event that Equitable Gas Company elects to withdraw from the Settlement, as modified, that it so notify the Secretary of the Commission and Law Bureau Prosecutory Staff within twenty (20) days of the date of entry of this Opinion and Order.

		3.	That a copy of this Opinion and Order together with the attached Settlement Agreement, as modified, shall be served on the Office of Consumer Advocate and the Office of Small Business Advocate.

		4.	That comments to the Settlement Agreement and this Opinion and Order, as modified, will be considered timely if filed within twenty (20) days of the date of entry of this Opinion and Order.



		5.	That, subsequent to the Commission’s review of the comments filed in this proceeding, a Final Opinion and Order will be issued.

[image: ]
							BY THE COMMISSION,



							James J. McNulty
							Secretary

(SEAL)

ORDER ADOPTED:  October 8, 2009

ORDER ENTERED:  November 25, 2009
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